# **Drexel** UNIVERSITY

# GRADUATE THESIS/DISSERTATION APPROVAL FORM AND SIGNATURE PAGE

**Instructions:** This form must be completed by all master's and doctoral students with a thesis or dissertation requirement. Please type or print clearly as this form MUST be included as page 1 of your thesis or dissertation via electronic submission to ProQuest. All theses and dissertations must be formatted according to the University and department/program requirements. **Reminder:** It is the responsibility of the student to submit any/all edits requested by the Examining Committee to the Faculty Mentor or Supervising Professor for final approval and signature via the Graduate Program Completion Form.

oraduate i rogram completion	i onn.	
Туре:	Master's Thesis	PhD/Doctoral Thesis or Dissertation
Thesis or Dissertation Title:	Crisis Management F	Planning and Theatre Organizations
	Responses and Less	ons from the COVID-19 Crisis
Author's Name:	Joseph Ryan Yow	
Month and Year:	December 2020	
The signatures below certify t Committee.	hat this thesis / dissertation (	circle one) is complete and approved by the Examining
Committee Chairperson's Name:		Committee Member's Name:
Pamela Yau		Title:
Title: Assistant Teaching Professor and Thesis Director		Department:
Department: Arts and Entertainment Enterprise		Institution (if other than Drexel University):
Institution (if other than Drexel Un	niversity):	
		Signature:
Signature: Gau		Committee Member's Name:
Committee Member's Name: La	ura-Edythe S. Coleman	Title:
Title: Program Director		
Arts & Entertainment Enterprise		Department:
Institution (if other than Drexel University):		Institution ( <i>if other than Drexel University</i> ):
Signature: / aug a- Ed. th	ha S Calaman	Signature:
Signature: <u>Laura-Cdythe S. Coleman</u> Committee Member's Name: <u>Andrew Zitcer</u>		Committee Member's Name:
Title: Assistant Professor		Title:
Department: Arch, Design & Urbanism		Department:
Institution (if other than Drexel University):		Institution (if other than Drexel University):
Signature: Coll		Signature:

# **Crisis Management Planning and Theatre Organizations**

### **Responses and Lessons from the COVID-19 Crisis**

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty

of

Drexel University

by

Joseph Ryan Yow

in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree

of

Master of Science in Arts Administration

December 2020



© Copyright 2020

Joseph Ryan Yow. All Rights Reserved.

# Acknowledgements

Thank you to the staff and management of Cape May Stage, Creative Domain Productions, and Paper Mill Playhouse for your time and interest in this project.

# **Table of Contents**

ABSTRACT vi
Introduction and Purpose Statement1
Literature Review
1. Section I: COVID-19 - Where We Are Now
2. Section II: What Can We Learn From Crisis?10
2.1 External Pressures: Revenue Streams, Charitable Giving, and Public Funding11
2.2 Responses to the Great Recession
2.3 Crisis Management Planning
3. Section III: Research Investigation25
3.1 Organization Overview
3.2 Creative Domain Productions
3.3 Cape May Stage
3.4 Paper Mill Playhouse
3.5 Research Limitations
3.6 Anticipated Findings
3.7 Research Findings
3.8 Creative Domain Productions
3.9 Cape May Stage
3.10 Paper Mill Playhouse
4. Section IV: Analysis and Discussion
4.1 Financial Sustainability Practices
4.2 Distinctions in Audience Communications60

4.3 Crisis Response Methods	62
5. Conclusion	64
Bibliography	70
Appendix of Tools	75
Vita	77

#### Abstract

#### Crisis Management Planning and Theatre Organizations Responses and Lessons from the COVID-19 Crisis Joseph Ryan Yow

Closures of theatre organizations due to COVID-19 have presented these organizations with a crisis – how to sustain an organization when the primary service of live performance is interrupted. This investigation uses qualitative research, focusing on case studies and semi-structured interviews with administrative officials of three theatre organizations in New Jersey, to provide a comparison of how each organization handles financial sustainability, employment, management, and communication. In addition, it examines how each of these companies engaged in the practice of crisis management planning – preemptively developing strategies and procedures for handling financial, public relations, and service-related crises. Research findings on financial sustainability, charitable giving, and crisis management planning, paired with the investigation, demonstrate multiple points of attention for theatre organizations during a crisis. Success in surviving a service-interruption crisis depends largely on leadership, organizational flexibility, willingness to explore new ventures, clear communication with its audience, and continued engagement in fundraising and revenue generation. However, this investigation also finds that crisis management planning is less-often engaged in by these organizations, with more focus placed upon maintaining organizational flexibility and reacting to changing circumstances. Theatre organizations that engage in financial sustainability practices – building reserve funds, endowments, and robust development –

are better equipped to manage the challenges of service interruption, while smaller organizations that operate on thinner revenue margins are more likely to face closure.

#### **Introduction and Purpose Statement**

In a little more than a decade, the nonprofit sector in the United States has been rocked by two major financial crises – the Great Recession of 2008 and the spread of the COVID-19 novel coronavirus through the world. Due to their reliance on funding sources that are related to overall economic health, state funding, corporate and charitable giving, nonprofit performing arts organizations are at a systemic disadvantage compared to for-profit organizations when a significant event threatens financial strain. Now, as COVID-19 demonstrates the vulnerabilities of the nonprofit sector to societal lockdowns at a scope not seen in over a century, it is imperative that nonprofits proactively prepare for the next major crisis.

This investigation will look at the factors that challenge nonprofit theatre companies during a service interruption crisis such as COVID-19. When a company is deprived of its primary business model, what steps can it take to survive? In addition, this investigation will review responses of select theatre companies in New Jersey to the crises of the Great Recession of 2007 and specific incidents respective to their own organizations. It includes interviews with theatre administrators and an examination of the literature relating to the crises of both the Great Recession and COVID-19. This investigation should add a more current perspective that is less of an analysis of "what went wrong" and more of a guide to what can we do to prevent the damage caused by the 2020 shutdown in the future.

1

#### **Literature Review**

#### Section I: COVID-19 – Where We Are Now

As of this writing in December of 2020, literature on the COVID-19 crisis is largely gathered from sources that are not peer-reviewed due to its relatively short and ongoing lifecycle. In reviewing this literature, however, a few issues stand out that give us context for the realities facing theatre organizations. First, this crisis has exposed the precarious nature of work in the cultural sector. Second, under this crisis the traditional business model for theatre is unsustainable. Third, regardless of what sector an organization operates within, crisis management leans heavily on communication strategies.

At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in America, theatre companies suspended operations as health and safety measures were taken to slow the spread of the virus. The restrictions placed on theatre companies – suspension of services, future limitations on audience size, and the risk of spreading the disease via the physical nature of live performance – severely impact the financial viability of these companies. Many organizations, including notable companies such as the National Theatre in London and the Metropolitan Opera in New York City, made recordings of prior productions available on streaming platforms, usually for free or for a suggested donation. The benefits of publishing free digital content, such as maintaining a connection to an audience, do not come without drawbacks. By digitizing their work for free or a nominal costs, theatre companies begin to establish an expectation of that cost amongst their audience. Should digital content continue to be an element of theatre production, it will require a change in business models, or theatre companies risk working "for the sake of exposure" (Vincent 2020).

Theatre companies are turning to their backlog of recorded productions for digital content. Streaming has created its own set of new challenges for theatre companies, such as getting permission from Actor's Equity Association (AEA) to stream an actor's performance, a union which typically manages live performances. AEA was initially responsive to companies turning to streaming, particularly because the nature of live performance – proximity to one another and amount of saliva droplets produced in vocal performances – significantly increases the potential for exposure to a virus. (Lunden 2020)

Approaches to resolving funding shortfalls varied by organization. For example, The Metropolitan Opera, facing significant financial challenges – an anticipated loss of income of \$60 million dollars, the furloughing of performers – turned to virtual performances as a means of generating revenue. This transition forced the organization to learn and adopt new technical skills to translate their work to the screen. Controversially, the musicians were donating their time after being furloughed – being asked to perform for the company without actually being paid for their performance (Barone 2020).

A similar situation occurred with the Melbourne Symphony Orchestra (MSO) – performers were asked to contribute to the marketing and fundraising of the MSO after being furloughed and hired back at a reduced rate. – The MSO case illustrates the underlying problem of asking artists to donate their time for the sake of an organization's benefit. Growing tensions between the artists and management in the MSO contributed to a declining sense of trust, resulting in a lack of faith in management and a desire on one artist's part to see a complete turnover in the administration, despite the fact that the administration had taken pay cuts and additional sacrifices to keep the organization afloat. This unearthed tension between the artists and administration of the MSO had been increasing with time and was escalated by the quarantine emergency. The breakdown in communication, trust, and expectations amongst the artists of the MSO is an example of a how crisis can exacerbate existing conflicts within an organization (Miller 2020).

The shutdown has forced many organizations to assess their financial health and communication strategies. Arts organizations are not prepared to see all of their financial revenue sources interrupted at once. Determining financial health requires an analysis of current assets and obligations, as well as a focus on the dual bottom line: the impact of services and finances. An organization must assess which element of its programming has the greatest impact on its mission and prioritize those programs. Regarding communication, all members of an organization should join in the discussions about how to navigate a crisis, and organizations should communicate with transparency and urgency to internal and external parties (Zimmerman 2020).

The significant health and safety concerns affecting in-person events has led theatre companies to explore digital options for continuing their operations. This presents particular challenges to theatre companies working under Actors Equity Association agreements (the union for theatre actors and stage managers) due to complications between AEA and the Screen Actors Guild (the union for screen actors), and the determination of how digital productions should be created during the pandemic and which union they should fall under. Prior to COVID-19, union theatre companies looking to digitally capture a production would rehearse and produce that production under Equity contracts, and then record and distribute that production under SAG contracts. Differences in safety protocols and union coverage has led to a stalemate in negotiations between the two organizations and inequity for union members trying to work (Pierce 2020).

The Screen Actors Guild released guidelines for returning to work that focuses on frequent testing and a physical space-defining zone system which aims to separate cast and crew into groups based on frequency and need of interaction (SAG-AFTRA 2020). Equity has released separate guidelines for in-person production (including digital capture of live productions) with four guiding principles – quick testing and venues modified to minimize exposure, both of which a company can reasonably control, and collective buy-in on mitigation efforts and a virus level that has been low for multiple weeks (10 cases per 100K people for at least two weeks,) which are, of course, outside of a company's control. In addition to being significantly more conservative in their safety standards, Equity is also noncommittal to a reopening date for union companies (American Theatre 2020). This distinction between SAG and Equity creates an environment in which a union theatre company is forced to work under SAG contracts instead of Equity in order to produce – but SAG contracts do not fully cover the base rate of Equity performers, nor does it cover stage managers (Pierce 2020).

It is interesting to note that the new guidelines released by SAG are not based on observations of the performance industry, but are rather based on observations of the construction industry. Indeed, labor practices in the performing arts, pre-COVID-19, in many ways enable risk post-COVID-19: reliance upon non-unionized workers putting in extended work hours (70-80 hours per week, hours that studies show reduce the capability of a person to make reasoned decisions,) shared meal times with cast and crew, and physical working conditions that do not allow for social distancing (such as backstage areas or the large amounts of crews involved in loading or unloading a show) compound the risk of a virus. SAG and Equity are in agreement that the prior status quo is untenable in a COVID-19 era, but they may find that returning to the status quo post-COVID-19 is equally untenable (Loar 2020).

As of October 2020, a new campaign called See It Safely has been adopted by several theatre companies in the United Kingdom. This program provides a toolkit for reopening under social distancing guidelines, including reduced seating capacity, one-way movement, temperature checks, contactless payment, and trained front of house staff (UK Theatre 2020). One hundred and forty venues have been approved by the UK Department for Digital, Culture, Media, and Sport, SOLT and UK Theatre, but while some shows are reopening in October in the West End, some can still not open with reduced capacity for economical reasons (McPhee 2020). The UK campaign stands in contrast to the United States, as Broadway is not planning to resume operations until at least June 2021 – a minimum of 444 days since they closed on March 12, 2020 (Paulson 2020).

There are three groups of steps theatre organizations can take to mitigate crises: establishing priorities for both the health and safety of the organization's members and audience as well as the organization itself; determining resources and obligations pertaining to the organization; and communicating with the organization's constituents (Clayton, Totten, Munoz-Blanco, and Clark 2020). Considering these steps as an outline of a crisis management plan, two steps stand out – creating multiple financial and operating models to examine different approaches to organizational health and communicating with audiences and donors. Creating models forces an organization to take an honest assessment of their situation and develop a flexible approach to dealing with challenges. Communication helps an organization maintain control of the perception of their organization during a chaotic time, reinforcing confidence amongst audience members and donors, two key revenue sources (Clayton, Totten, Munoz-Blanco, and Clark 2020).

Organizations should communicate prolifically about the issues that are most relevant and hold on communications that are made less relevant by the crisis. Prioritization should be given to matters of health and safety, both internally and externally. Since theatres operate with large crowds, consistency in focus on health and safety is critical for external communications – an organization needs to not only consider how to keep their audience safe, but also demonstrate that they are thinking of their safety. Organizations should appear to be conscientious of the difficulties they and their customers are facing (George 2020).

The Crisis Communication Plan Nonprofit Toolkit, created by the Colorado Nonprofit Association, details a proactive strategy for crisis communication strategies. The suggested strategy focuses on maintaining consistent members who are tasked with communicating to the public, using communication to mitigate the crisis while demonstrating the leadership of the organization, a push for transparency while also keeping employee information confidential, and a call to always be prepared with an answer. Notably, "no comment" is seen as an unacceptable response, as it invites the listener to determine the context of that response rather than the organization. Those communicating on behalf of an organization to be trained for this responsibility, as the demands of communicating to the media or constituents during a crisis are specific and challenging (Colorado Nonprofit Association. Crisis Communication Plan Nonprofit Toolkit 2011).

There are consequences for failing to develop a crisis communication strategy. If an organization cannot adequately communicate to their constituents, it runs the risk of being viewed as inept or inadequate to the task of coping with the crisis. Organizations break down in such situations, both internally and externally. To avoid this, organizations should develop multiple modalities of communication to get messages out in a timely and appropriate manner and conduct a pre-crisis vulnerability audit. This audit assesses the potential risks to the organization and assists in helping develop a crisis management plan (Bernstein 2015).

Leaders must own their messaging – being transparent enough that the audience feels they understand what the organization is going through, but also speaking to the future and what direction an organization will take to sustain itself. In addition, leadership should maintain a focus on the so-called soft issues – matters of conscience and empathy, matters that reflect on the mission and values of the organization. Strong leaders use an organizations mission to guide them through a crisis (Breeze 2020).

Perhaps the most important aspect of communication is to maintain an audience for the day an organization reopens, but the uncertainty of the COVID-19 outbreak makes us consider: when will that actually happen? An audience survey of more than 3,400 people on how and when they will feel comfortable enough to attend a cultural event again revealed, unsurprisingly, that audience interest in attending events that require minimal movement in a small space is low. Survey respondents identified that a vaccine would overwhelmingly have the most impact in increasing comfort levels. Removal of government restrictions and an organization's own decision to resume programming also factored into restoring audience comfort. The availability of hand sanitizer and, by extension, an established practice of how the audience can engage in the activity safely was also significant. This data shows that while there are some elements that an organization can control, two of the largest barriers to audience's returning to the theatre – vaccines and government restrictions – are out of their hands (Dilen-Schneider 2020).

#### Section II – What Can We Learn From Crisis?

A brief overview of the operating process of a nonprofit organization: a nonprofit organization operates similarly to a for-profit organization in many ways. For a theatre company, that similarity focuses on the exchange of a service (performances, education, etc.) for a fee paid by the audience. This type of income is considered earned revenue. Unique to a nonprofit organization is another form of income known as contributed revenue, money or goods given to the organization for its operations or specific initiatives. This contributed revenue usually comes from a combination of grants and donations. The business model of a professional theatre relies on all three of these sources – contributed revenue from grants and donations combined with earned revenue from sales – in order to survive.

In reviewing the literature pertaining to nonprofit management prior to the current novel coronavirus crisis, I discovered three main themes. First, external pressures, such as the impact of revenue streams, corporate giving, and charitable giving have a significant impact on the financial health and prospects of non-profit organizations (Bivin, Osili, Pruitt, Bergdoll 2020; Gellar, Salamon and Mengel 2010; Reich 2011). Second, multiple studies on how non-profit organizations responded to the 2008 global financial crisis, hereafter referred to as the Great Recession, illustrated three strategies: increasing fundraising, reducing expenses, and entrepreneurial expansion (Brooks 2000; Donnelly-Cox and Cannon 2010; Gellar, Salamon, and Mengel 2010; Lee and Shon 2018). Third, the inevitability of a non-profit organization facing a crisis necessitates a crisis preparation strategy (Jordan, Upright, and Tice-Owens 2016; Nangole 2012).

#### External Pressures: Revenue Streams, Charitable Giving, and Public Funding

The Great Recession was a global financial crisis, beginning in 2007, that resulted in significant financial turmoil in the real estate and stock markets. Due to this turmoil, millions of people lost their jobs, resulting in a spike in unemployment. Nations across the world, particularly in the United States and Western Europe, saw a decline in gross domestic product for a sustained period of time. Companies were inclined to reevaluate their financial practices, including charitable donations. Focusing on the effects of the Great Recession, there is evidence that nonprofit organizations were under significant financial stress, as expected. In "Museums and Other Nonprofits in the Current Recession: A Story of Resilience, Innovation, and Survival," 83 percent of surveyed organizations, "...reported experiencing fiscal stress, and close to 40 percent described this stress as 'severe' or 'very severe'." (Gellar, Salamon and Mengel 2010, 130). Nearly a third of all respondents reported severe or very severe financial distress during the most acute period of the recession, September 2008 to March 2009. Non-profit organizations were facing additional financial pressures during this time, including declining revenues, increased costs, declining endowments, increased competitions for financial resources, and increased demand (Gellar, Salamon and Mengel 2010).

Between the period of 1987 to 1991, an ever-increasing income gap (the difference between income versus expenses) in symphony orchestras rose from under one million dollars to two and a half million. The American Symphony Orchestra League

noted an average 150% increase in the income gap for symphony orchestras between 1971 and 1991. "Such deficit increases have not been limited to orchestras: U.S. theater companies as a group saw a budget surplus of 1.2 percent of revenues turn into a deficit of 0.3 percent from 1975 to 1985" (Brooks 2000, 271).

Consider the concept of the income-gap – the difference between income and expenses – and with that in mind, look at the impact that increasing financial pressures, coupled with an economic recession, have on the income sources for non-profit organizations. One of these sources, charitable giving, is questionable during a financial crisis. Declines in charitable giving decreased more in the Great Recession than in previous recessions. Charitable giving operates in tandem with gross domestic product – as the available amount of money contracts, so, too, does giving. This is evidence to say that charitable giving is less determined by Americans' generosity and more determined by the available monetary resources. Unfortunately, the need for charitable giving is counter-cyclical to the available resources: need increases as the resources for giving decline (Reich 2011). Research supports this claim, identifying household income, wealth, and the health of the stock market as positive influences in individual giving (Bivin, et al. 2020).

The Great Recession resulted in a plateau in charitable giving. The 10-year estimate average growth in charitable giving between 2001 to 2010 was flat – a 0% change. The period between 2011 to 2020, in contrast, saw an estimated average growth in charitable giving of 3%. A change of one year in the ten-year projection, 2012 to 2021, sees an estimated average growth of 3.5%. As we've approached the early months of

2020, the outlook for charitable giving was rosy, with an anticipated rise in total giving of 4.8% in 2020 and 5.1% in 2021 (Bivin et al. 2020).

What led to the expectation of such significant growth over the next two years? Predominately, growth in bequests, foundations, individual, and corporate giving was attributed to growth in the national Gross Domestic Product, growth in the value of the S&P 500, and growth in household wealth and income (Bivin et al. 2020). Between the years of 2009 to 2019, volume of charitable giving increased by 866%, with an 816% difference in the monetary value. (Heisman 2019).

The statistics just discussed review charitable giving as a whole, but what about the subsector of the arts? Arts and culture organizations received \$113 million across nearly five-thousand grants from the National Philanthropic Trust in the 2018-2019 fiscal year. Arts and culture organizations ranked sixth amongst the organizations receiving grants from NPT, behind education, religion, human services, health, and the public/social benefit sectors (Heisman 2019). Global trends in charitable giving show that only 4% of donations went to arts and culture organizations (2018 Global Trends in Giving 2019). The Philanthropy Outlook 2020 & 2021 does not list the Arts and Culture subsector within the top choices of donors (Bivin et al. 2020).

Prior to COVID-19, there was an expected growth of 4.4% in individual donations in 2020 (Bivin et al. 2020). On average 80% of individual giving were in values of up to \$1000. Major donations of over \$10,000 made up only 3.7% of individual donations across all charitable giving in 2018 (2018 Global Trends in Giving 2019).

Major individual donations assist nonprofit organizations in accomplishing large endeavors, such as plant expansion or new program ventures. High-dollar donations typically come from the extremely wealthy, who were significantly impacted by the Great Recession. This led to a drop in individual donations of over \$100 million between 2000 to 2009 by 38%. In addition, the Slate 60, which tracks the top 60 philanthropic gifts, noted a significant drop in gift amounts in 2009, and a study from the Center on Philanthropy at Indiana University found a 35% drop in annual gifts from high-income households. The Great Recession resulted in belt-tightening for many high-income individuals and households, and the residual impact of this was felt by the non-profit organization sector in an evaporation of approximately a third of high-dollar charitable donations (Reich et al. 2011).

How does financial disruption affect corporate giving? In the early 1990's, corporate giving priorities moved away from personal preference towards achieving tangible corporate gains. The corporate agenda became an essential part of non-profit giving. Is the organization in the same community as the corporation? Will it directly benefit the economy of the area or its employees? Will it benefit the public image of the corporate giving is also largely directed at nonprofit organizations, as opposed to individual artists. Less than 10% of corporate support is directed through united arts funds (UAFs,) which raise money for multiple arts organizations and individual artists (Useem 1991).

The role of corporate giving is significant to the nonprofit organizations. Businesses can directly sponsor single events or exhibits and can lobby additional businesses for support as well. This gives the business public visibility while helping cover the high costs of large events for nonprofit organizations. Companies can also provide in-kind donations and technical assistance in a broader scope than public agencies (Useem 1991).

Anticipated growth of corporate giving was only 0.4% in 2020 and (prior to COVID-19) 1.4% in 2021 (Bivin, Osili, Pruitt, Bergdoll 2020). In 2017, corporate giving was even with federal funding at 3%. Combine federal funding with state and local government funding (hence referred to as public funding), though, and corporate giving falls sharply behind, 9% versus 3% respectively (Americans For The Arts 2017, 1).

Public agencies use regulated guidelines to determine funding eligibility, as opposed to the self-interests that drive corporate giving. In addition, public agencies are more willing than corporations to fund individual artists (Useem 1991). Comparing funding levels in 1999 and 2019, public funding saw increases in local funding (approximately \$6.5 million in 1999 to \$860 million in 2019,) modest gains in federal funding via the National Endowment for the Arts (\$100 million to \$155 million,) and no growth in state funding at \$360.5 million. All public funding saw a rise prior to 2009, and while the NEA stayed relatively steady, local and state funding saw significant declines in the years following the Great Recession. While local funding met and surpassed its pre-Great Recession level in 2015, State funding only recovered in 2017 and has stayed relatively flat since (Cohen 2019).

There's an important context to understand the role of charitable giving for a nonprofit organization. Charitable giving constitutes an average of 13.3% of the total revenues of nonprofit organizations. Importantly, charitable contributions have an importance to nonprofit organizations disproportionate to their actual monetary value. While charitable giving may not make up the largest percentage of income for an organization, they validate the organization's values – "charitable contributions are the defining and unique source of revenue since they are set up exclusively to capture and channel philanthropic endeavors" (Lee and Shon 2018, 950).

The growing needs for collaboration and competition within the non-profit sector are putting new stressors on the traditional service-related business model. Non-profit companies must take new actions in order to meet these challenges - creating new capacities and finance streams while building improved relationships with across sectors and throughout their communities. Cultural non-profits have a particular need to consider new business models, as most share the traditional characteristics of not generating enough income to cover their expenses, making them reliant on public funding. Most non-profit organizations fall under the concept of a multi-sided business – rather than a customer paying the organization directly for goods or service, such as in a traditional business model, non-profits have customers as beneficiaries of their goods or service who do not pay the full cost of producing those services, while public and private funding supports that additional cost. Cultural organizations often do not have significant reserve funding, putting them in danger during periods of financial instability. However, cultural organizations also have particular characteristics that can serve as points of innovation, such as their art-form development, audiences, distribution, value creation, and their business models (Rodriguez 2016).

What is the significance of these findings? To summarize, funding sources are largely dependent on the financial health of the nation (Bivin et al. 2020). In the past twenty years, arts organizations have seen two major crises that have caused instability and substantial changes in public funding (Cohen 2019), which accounts for 9% of the

16

average arts organization's budget (Americans for the Arts 2017). The other 31% of funding – individual, corporate, and foundation support (Americans For The Arts 2017) – are largely dependent on the financial health of the national economy, which have also been impacted by both the Great Recession and the COVID-19 crisis. Now consider the plight of theatre companies at the moment – public funding barely growing over eleven years regardless of inflation (Cohen 2019), corporate giving contracting (Americans For The Arts 2017, 1), individual donations tied to an economy undergoing a serious crisis due to unemployment and business closures (Bivin et al. 2020), and earned income all but paused. The culminating effect of these challenges present theatre companies with an existential crisis.

#### **Responses to the Great Recession**

Once we establish the baseline understanding of the external pressures non-profits are facing in financial crisis – challenges and drops in earned revenues, philanthropic and corporate funding, and public support – we can begin to look at how non-profits responded to these challenges in the context of the Great Recession.

Globally, non-profit organizations face similar challenges. Years of shifting public opinion on the relevancy of public support for the arts, coupled by the loss of state funding, contributed to a challenging period for the arts post-recession in Ireland. This shock led to non-profit organizations turning inward and focusing on their own survival. Looking at a case study of the Irish Peace Center, its focus shifted from collaboration to distinctiveness and exceptionalism, choices that they used to promote their own organizations but that also isolated them from information and input from other nonprofits (Donnelly-Cox and Shannon 2010).

Different response modes from art organizations emerged in this response to the Great Recession. One was to focus on economizing – reducing programming, staff, and overhead. The second was to harmonize their focus, turning all resources to their mission in hopes that public funding interests would also align and bolster public support. A third is the diversifying response, either by increasing fundraising activities and increasing capacity to draw in additional funding, or moving into new ventures to make a greater impact. The fourth is the monopolizing response, of focusing on and innovating the delivery of a current service (Donnelly-Cox and Shannon 2010). While the focus of this

study will be on American organizations, we can apply these response modes to our analysis.

Promisingly, non-profit organizations showed resilience during the Great Recession. Economic distress, while still significant, was not as severe as experienced after the attacks on September 11, 2001. Only three percent of respondents surveyed reported that they were in danger of closing due to the Great Recession (Gellar, Salamon, and Mengel 2010).

Continuity of service was only modestly affected. Of surveyed respondents, 18% reported a high staff turnover, 12% reported difficulty in managing volunteers, and 9% reported greater difficulty in hiring or retaining staff. "In short, despite the recession and the resulting fiscal pressures they faced, museums and other nonprofits largely maintained their financial footing and maintained or expanded their activities, serving more people, and particularly more vulnerable people," (Gellar, Salamon, and Mengel 2010, 133).

While this literature is limited to the organizations surveyed by the Gellar, Salamon, and Mengel paper, we can look at how these organizations responded and expand our research to cover their strategies. The main three strategies that we will focus on are fundraising, reducing expenses, and entrepreneurial expansion.

Fundraising and its strategic importance are all dependent on the size and relative percentage of private contributions to their income. An organization that is more dependent on private contributions will place a higher priority on fundraising. Nonprofit fundraising is also impacted by the general economic conditions, as supported by earlier evidence about the decline in charitable giving. One of the coping strategies is an increase in fundraising efforts, launching new or expanded campaigns. In addition, limited philanthropic availability leads to increased competition for those funds, which results in increased costs for fundraising efforts. This results in non-profits becoming more competitive as fundraising efforts become a higher priority (Lee 2018). This supports the diversification strategy and the general sense of organizations becoming more self-centered in the report by Donnelly-Cox and Cannon (2010).

Gellar, Salamon, and Mengel (2010) also note this increase in fundraising efforts, with a focus on individuals, state or local funds, federal funds, and foundations and corporations. A focus emerges on "belt-tightening," or reducing expenses. This includes cutting administrative costs, creating or expanding collaborative efforts with other nonprofits, postponing new hires, reducing programming, reducing travel budgets for staff, shifting to cheaper products or services, eliminating staff positions, increasing reliance on volunteers, and implementing a salary freeze (Gellar, Salamon, and Mengel 2010). This correlates with the economizing strategy observed by Donnelly-Cox and Cannon.

Some labor in the arts cannot be made more efficient, and changes in production that negatively affect quality can result in a decline in public interest. Focusing on supply-side remedies (remedies that can be controlled by the organization), a reduction in labor or a decrease in scale of operations could be used to reduce expenses. However, in some ways this is impractical – you could not, for example, lay off half of an orchestra and still have an orchestra (Brooks 2000).

Looking at entrepreneurial expansion, there is an additional supply-side remedy: the production of additional goods or services, thereby creating additional revenue streams (Brooks 2000). Arts organization respondents took entrepreneurial steps to improve their finances and expand their marketing and advocacy efforts. Many of these efforts took the form of creating new in-kind relationships with media, which worked to increase visibility of an organization and reducing advertising costs. There is a correlation between the financial success of an organization and its pursuit of entrepreneurial strategies (Gellar, Salamon, and Mengel 2010).

#### **Crisis Management Planning**

Finally, the third theme that emerged from my research relates to Crisis Management Planning, or CMP. A crisis is defined in this case as a time in which normal operations are disrupted, and that there is increasing pressure for improved organizational practices that support CMP. Although the definition of crisis contains an element of the unpredictable, it does not change the likelihood of a potential crisis. Nonprofits face two types of crises: an emergency, resulting in a lapse in service; or a controversy, which may damage an organization's reputation. A crisis may stem from an internal or external source (Jordan, Upright, and Tice-Owens 2016).

Crisis management is defined as "a systemic attempt by organizational members with external stakeholders to avert crisis or effectively manage those that do," (Gilstrap, Gilstrap, Holderby 2016, 2790). Responses to crises can be evaluated based on the decisions made by leadership to effect change in ongoing crisis situations, divided into the categories of planning, response, and learning. Crisis communication is defined as "strategic thinking, relationship work, and information sharing both within and beyond the crisis-impacted organization," (Gilstrap, Gilstrap, Holderby 2016, 2791). It is used to both pass information to the public and clarify situations faced by an organization, but also to address public concerns and coordinate community efforts. Successful crisis communication includes being transparent and honest with the public and media, preventative planning and strategic partnerships with community organizations, and expressing compassion and acceptance in the face of uncertainty (Gilstrap, Gilstrap, Holderby 2016, 2791).

Another important aspect of crisis management is crisis sensing, or the ability to perceive and respond to intermittent, high-impact crises. Responding to a sudden change in structural or cultural aspects of an organization is challenging for most groups, and requires a reframing of their organizational narrative to make sense of the changes imposed by a crisis. Members of an organization discuss their perceptions of normal and abnormal circumstances, agree on the abnormal factors of the current situation, and agree as a group on how to proceed. Sense-giving, in contrast, involves the leadership of an organization going through this process of understanding an abnormal situation, and then communicating their perception of the situation to their organization. Members of the organization and other stakeholders come to use the leader's perception of the crisis in their decision-making process (Gilstrap, Gilstrap, Holderby 2016).

A three-phase management model includes a pre-crisis, crisis, and post-crisis stage. An organization should take steps to select a crisis management team, select a spokesperson, and develop a plan that relates to the internal and external operations of an organization. How an organization responds internally to a crisis should be distinguished from how they communicate their response to the public. Implementing a CMP during the pre-crisis stage, rather than in the midst of a crisis, has value in that it allows an organization time to consider and prepare without the pressure of facing an actual crisis. CMP's are best written with the goals of being both brief and thorough (Jordan, Upright, and Tice-Owens 2016). A communication strategy of honesty and transparency is applicable to both controversy and emergency situations. Nonprofits should be knowledgeable about potential crises so as to better prepare their response – hence, more support for a CMP. Steps should be taken to prevent an internal controversy or emergency from occurring, and should be factored into the operations of an organization as best practices (Nangole 2012).

#### **Section III – Research Investigation**

#### **Research Methodology**

This investigation uses qualitative research that focuses on case studies and semistructured interviews with administrative officials of theatre companies in New Jersey regarding their experience with the Great Recession, the health and economic COVID-19 crisis, and their crisis management plans. These companies are a diverse sample, with distinctions in size, type, and market. Case-studies are included to provide a comparison of each organization, with background research providing context on available customer communications, marketing, and financial data. Interviews provide an evolving discussion of each organization, examining practices of financial sustainability, employment, management, and crisis preparation and response. Organizations were selected via convenience-sampling, based on response to inquiries about participation and the following criteria:

- Location New Jersey (to limit the sample size)
- Producer or Producer/Presenter (to focus on organizations that are not strictly presenting organizations and are more involved in the creative process of theatre production)
- Greater than 5 employees prior to March 2020 (to focus on companies that are established enough to both be regarded as a professional organization while also being susceptible to significant impact by the loss of income during the COVID-19 crisis)

Organizations were diversified based on annual budgets and venue size. The organizations participating in these interviews are:

- Creative Domain Productions\*
- Cape May Stage
- Papermill Playhouse

The first phase of my research involved secondary data analysis of these organizations and a literature review on topics of financial sustainability, the Great Recession, the COVID-19 crisis, non-profit crisis management planning, and relevant research relating to small businesses, non-profit organizations, and unemployment.

The second phase of my research involved interviews with the administrative members of the selected organizations with a focus on examining their financial sustainability practices, business models, employment practices, and crisis management planning. Specific administrative roles included Executive Directors, Artistic Directors, and Marketing Directors.

The third phase involved a short-term observation of the organizational health of these companies from July 2020 through October 2020. These observations focused on what services they were able to provide, their methods of responding to the COVID-19 crisis, as well as financial and organizational health, including an analysis of financial data, employees retained, and facilities maintained. In addition, I analyzed marketing materials to research their communication strategies.

In order to address ethical concerns of this research I utilized a policy of informed consent for all participants. The goals and methods of research were explained to participants. Consent was requested for video and audio recordings. Data gathered from subjects was coded and filed anonymously to maintain confidentiality. At the conclusion, I provided a copy of the thesis to participants upon request.

\* Creative Domain Productions and all employees listed have been changed to pseudonyms to protect the organization's privacy.

## **Organization Overview**

## **Creative Domain Productions**

Creative Domain Productions is a multidisciplinary producing and presenting organization. Creative Domain focuses on both visual and performing arts, with a gallery, performance venue, and Associate Equity theatre company. Founded in 2001, the company currently resides in a major metropolitan city in New Jersey. It has a small staff of two full-time employees (Amber Smith, Executive Director, and Samantha Gold, Producing Director), three part-time employees (including a gallery manager, theater director, and theater manager), nearly 100 contract employees, and a 15-member Board of Directors. The Board is comprised of local business owners, academics, and creatives. Leadership of the organization was handed off by the founder, Rose Howard, to Smith in 2018. The split in employment is largely 10% administrative/ 90% artistic.

Its mission reads as "To engage, inspire, entertain and challenge audiences with highly intentional visual and performing arts programming; provide arts education to promote lifelong learning to diverse communities; and celebrate the essential power of the arts to illuminate humanity. Creative Domain provides a home for innovative performing, visual, and literary artists to develop new work; presents emerging and under-recognized artists who are making significant contributions to their respective fields; and serves as a space for established artists to take creative risks."

Creative Domain has a few earned income streams. First, ticketing revenue is generated by presenting several performances and gallery showings throughout the year.

They have two main fundraising events in the form of a summer and winter gala.

Creative Domain organizes community events including a multi-organization spanning art show called TC Fridays. In addition, they produce several arts events in-house.

Digital content distribute during COVID-19 was predominantly hosted via Zoom meetings.

### Cape May Stage

Cape May Stage is a producing organization operating in Cape May, New Jersey. The organization, incorporated as an Equity theatre company in 1988, resides in a historic church. The company has eight staff members, including Producing Artistic Director Roy Steinberg, Marketing Director Denise Shutter, as well as a Director of Development and Operations Manager, Director of Finance, Production Manager, Volunteer Coordinator, Technical Director, and Talent Liaison. Their Board of Directors is composed of 19 members. Steinberg has run the organization since 2009.

Cape May's mission statement reads: "Our mission is to produce compelling impactful theatre that engages audiences to enrich their lives. Our mission is to create a catalyst for audiences and artists of tomorrow within an intimate, unique, and historical venue through the following: by seeking to achieve the highest professional quality theatre through our diverse productions; by producing contemporary theatre which engages, inspires, challenges, and entertains our audience; by being stewards of the public trust and the resources provided to us by the community; by inspiring students and engaging seniors via outreach programs based on the performing arts."

Cape May Stage continues to operate as an Equity company, with two main earned income streams. The first is their annual season of plays – five in 2019. The second income stream is their educational programming, Cape May Stage for Kids and their National Playwrighting Symposium. The organization is also tied into the local tourism industry for Cape May. Digital content distributed by Cape May Stage during COVID-19 was presented in a combination of Zoom meetings for interactive events and Vimeo for paid digital recordings.

### **Paper Mill Playhouse**

Paper Mill Playhouse opened in 1934 in Milburn, New Jersey. It is predominantly an Equity producing organization, but it also works with producers to workshop plays headed to Broadway or national tours. They are notably the first company in America to offer sensory-friendly productions that include sign-interpretation, auditory enhancement, and autism-friendly performances. Their venue is a proscenium-style theater with a max seating capacity of 1162, significantly larger than our two other organizations.

Paper Mill is run by Artistic Director Mark S. Hoebee, who joined the organization in 2000. The company employs four other director positions – Managing Director, Associate Artistic Director, Associate Producer, and Management and HR Associate. Other departments include Development (seven employees), Marketing and Publicity (four), Finance and Administration (eight), Education (six), Audience Service and Ticketing (nine), Production (fourteen), House Management (two), and the management staff for their on-site restaurant, the Carriage House (four).

Paper Mill's mission is "Paper Mill Playhouse entertains, inspires, and enriches lives. As the nation's premier musical theater, we foster a creative environment to advance the art form, educate students, develop future theater lovers, nurture inclusion, and provide access for all."

Play production creates two income streams for the company – one from the initial ticket sales, and another from royalties for workshopped productions. Additional income streams include a Musical Theatre summer conservatory for teens, educational

workshops, and the Carriage House restaurant. Paper Mill also runs Rising Stars, a statewide high school theatre awards program.

Paper Mill chose not to share digital content during the summer of 2020. It's upcoming digital season is hosted on the Paper Mill website.

# **Research Limitations**

My research, conducted via interviews and analyzing available material, is limited in that the information obtained is based on what the organization and its leadership is willing to share. Phone interviews eliminate both anonymity for the interviewee as well as the possibility of the interviewer picking up body language signals during responses. There is also the potential for bias as relationships are formed over multiple conversations between the interviewer and interviewee.

This study is potentially limited by the availability of data on the effect of the novel coronavirus crisis on professional theatre companies. It is my hope, however, that the initial effects can be examined to provide insight for future preparation. In order to focus on the health of theatre organizations instead of employees, I will not be examining the impact on independent contractors within the arts, though these employees are critical for the success of a professional theatre company.

The New Jersey Theatre Alliance database, which lists eleven Associate Equity companies and twenty Equity companies among its members (New Jersey Theatre Alliance 2020). This research uses a small convenience sample of theatre organizations from this list in order to maintain a realistic scope of the research. Due to this, the results of the qualitative analysis may not be fully representative of the theatre organizations throughout all of New Jersey. For example, community theatre organizations and non-professional companies are not included in this research. I have attempted, however, to choose a diverse sampling from the Theatre Alliance database in regard to annual budgets, number of years in service, and number of employees to provide a wide range of circumstances to examine when looking at the shared challenge of COVID-19.

### **Anticipated Findings**

Due to the relatively recent crisis of the Great Recession, my expected outcome is that the majority of these organizations may have crisis communication strategies, such as development and marketing messages that address critical fundraising needs. I also anticipate that these organizations do not have a financial model that accounts for the possibility of extended inability to provide services, due to the inherent business model of the performing arts. The performing arts operates on the value proposition of live performance in return for a paying audience (José Rodriguez 2016, 13). Without the ability to provide live performances, income is dramatically reduced, and companies that budget their fiscal year partially on the projection of expected ticket sales will find themselves in financial stress.

A few possibilities come to mind when considering how a theatre company may adjust to a temporary pause on in-person performances. Companies would likely look to the possibility of virtual performances, whether newly produced or by sharing digital captures of prior live productions. Companies would likely need to address funding shortfalls by reducing expenditures and increasing requests for donations. Companies may reduce expenditures in the short-term by furloughing staff, negotiating a reduction in utilities and rentals, and reallocating production budgets of cancelled shows. Long-term, companies may be faced with financial difficulties when trying to return to in-person productions, which might require scaling back the scope of live productions, eliminating staff positions, or even dropping Equity status to reduce production costs.

There is also the issue of how companies will maintain their audience when their audience is both not frequenting their physical venue as well as potentially going through their own economic crisis due to COVID-19. Companies may have to engage in new communication strategies to explain why (at the outset of the pandemic) the theater has closed, keep audiences engaged with their work, and explain how to view and interact with virtual productions. Companies may also have to decide how to approach fundraising during this time. Assuming that the need for additional fundraising would be essential when there is no or reduced earned income, do these companies decide to maintain or increase their fundraising efforts or pause fundraising to demonstrate an understanding of the difficult economic circumstances faced by their communities?

I anticipate that my interviews will prompt further investigation into the business models of these theatre companies, as well as a reevaluation of financial sustainability practices and crisis management plans. Companies may have to decide if their current budgeting accounts for financial emergencies, and if not, assess if they can allocate additional cash-flow to emergency savings. Companies may have to review their staffing needs and consider if, long-term, are all of their positions necessary, are there positions that are needed specifically during a financial crisis, and are there positions that can be restructured to improve the financial health of the organization. Companies may also have to examine if there is a need, in their specific circumstances, to have a predetermined crisis management plan, or is it more useful for the organization to maintain flexibility in their response by not developing a CMP?

#### **Research Findings**

# **Creative Domain Productions**

Creative Domain Productions was relatively small as an organization during the Great Recession, and as a result was able to ride through that event without significant impact (Howard 2020). The company was in healthy financial shape prior for the operating year of 2020 prior to March. Their winter gala, Snowball, had occurred in January. "I have no idea what kind of state we'd be in if the shutdown happened in December," (Smith 2020a).

When concerns over COVID-19 began to develop prior to the shutdown of nonessential businesses in New Jersey on March 21, 2020, Amber Smith and Samantha Gold began discussing options for the future. "When all the news was coming out, it was like a lot of me and Meredith talking back and forth, um, saying like, OK, it's feeling like things are close, Trump scheduled a press conference, that feels like it's important. We're sort of like trying to make, you know, make judgments based on the way that things were unfolding," (Gold 2020). Steps were taken to notify the board and to communicate to Creative Domain's customer base about their intentions in pausing in-person services. "Initially our priorities were absolutely to come out as a leader in the field in our community and say we understand that this is a huge threat and this is a global pandemic and we're not going to stay open when it's not safe," (Gold 2020). Focus was placed on communicating to their audience, via email and social media - first on March 10 regarding the sanitization steps being taken to keep guests safe at their venue, followed by notification of closure on March 13. Additional messaging around closure focused on the justification for shutting down (maintaining the health and safety of their customers,) and that Creative Domain was there to support their customers in whatever way it could (Gold 2020).

Creative Domain received a PPE loan as a small-business, with a low interest-rate and a 30-year repayment timeline. Creative Domain did possess liability insurance prior to the COVID-19 shutdown, but this liability insurance did not include business interruption coverage. The shutdown forced Creative Domain to adjust their workforce - Creative Domain furloughed one employee, and postponed or cancelled contracts with their artists and technicians for upcoming in-person productions. The lack of financial expense in mounting productions and exhibits, lower utility fees of an unused venue, and reduced staffing resulted in some savings (Smith 2020a). As of October, their staffing levels remained the same (Smith 2020c).

Once the shutdown occurred, Creative Domain began implementing changes to their fundraising and programming. Their summer gala, Cocktails Under The Stars, was cancelled (Smith 2020a). As of October, no changes to fundraising or financial planning had been implemented (Smith 2020c).

At first, online programming was wide-reaching in scope, with events centered around story circles, stand-up comedy, and Drag Bingo (Smith, June). At first, the focus for online programming was around providing content and maintaining the community of their audience. "So, initially, a lot of our online program were targeted just to people in Jersey City that needed to have, like, a release, that kind of release from the news from everything that was going on," (Gold, July). Eventually, some of these events were cancelled due to lack of audience support or a disconnect in how to make the event work in a virtual setting (Gold, July).

Drag Bingo stands out as an event that both connected Creative Domain's audience and expanded that audience outside of Jersey City (Smith, June). The success of Drag Bingo for their audience was measured in the human connections made online with each other (Gold, July). Drag Bingo was successful enough that it became an offering for virtual parties, hosted by Creative Domain. Additionally, Creative Domain found another revenue stream in facilitating livestreams for other companies. As of August, Smith believed that the market will dictate the survival of their virtual programming – if there is an audience for it, perhaps it will live on, but these programs could also be considered a relic of the quarantine era once live performances resume (Smith 2020b).

As of now, the future of the company is uncertain, and live performance is largely predicated on the arrival of a cure or vaccine for COVID-19 (Smith 2020a). In addition, public trust will play a crucial element in reopening plans. Indoor events are seen as more dangerous than outdoor events during the pandemic, and even if the theater venue could open at a reduced capacity, it may not be profitable to do so (Smith 2020a). Reopening is a moving-target – in August, in-person events were hoped to resume in January of 2021 (Smith 2020b). With the announcement of Broadway remaining closed until June of 2021, Creative Domain's reopening is now being considered for a similar timeframe (Smith 2020c).

In the meantime, Creative Domain is working towards understanding how to adapt to the changing times when it comes to virtual programming. One of their main events, TC Fridays, moved to a virtual model in May and with a notable improvement in terms of accessibility (Gold 2020). The event, which usually involves several free art productions happening at multiple venues in Jersey City, was able to expand its access to those with disabilities and allow visitors to attend multiple events that travel time would not have permitted during an in-person show. The event continued repeated its virtual iteration in October 2020, and has announced the next event for December 2020.

Creative Domain is looking at ways to move into live-streaming in the future (Smith 2020a). As of October, Creative Domain has not announced a fall or winter season, but it has announced the recipients of a year-long playwright development project called Inkubator, and is continuing its Drag Bingo program. Their gallery is opening for inperson socially distanced visits of two exhibitions. Creative Domain is also looking at ways of partnering with outside organizations, with a focus on finding partnerships that are equally supportive, where each organization can learn and advocate for one another (Smith 2020b). As of October, Creative Domain has announced the recipients of a year-long playwright development project called Inkubator and is continuing its Drag Bingo program. Their gallery is opening for socially distanced visits of two exhibitions.

Crisis management planning is not a large priority for Creative Domain. Smith finds that strategic planning lack a practical value, and that the time and expense of resources to create them may not necessarily pay off. This seemed to be reiterated in our final conversation in October – planning for the future, in the light of all the uncertainty and challenges facing the organization, was month to month (Smith 2020c). Gold recalls that while they have discussed strategic planning, the process of creating an actual plan is not given priority over the day to day operations of the organization. Priority is given to "remaining flexible, open and present in the moment," (Smith 2020b).

### Cape May Stage

Cape May Stage was in good financial health prior to the COVID-19 shutdown (Shutter 2020). The company casts actors predominantly from New York for six-week engagements, with shows beginning in May and playing through December. The timing of the COVID-19 shutdown corresponded to the beginning of their production cycle, with the play *Adopt A Sailor* in the works and a set under construction. The company announced the postponement of that play on April 16. The Artistic Director Roy Steinberg considered switching that production to a Christmas timeline, but as of our first interview in June, Steinberg was already seeing this outcome as unlikely (Steinberg 2020a). As of October, indoor events in New Jersey were still prohibited by the state government, and Cape May was continuing to produce virtual programming (Steinberg 2020c).

Cape May Stage moved to virtual programming shortly after the COVID-19 shutdown began, announcing these programs in May 2020. Their repertoire focused on virtual lectures led by theatre professionals, play readings, virtual play productions, and cabaret-style evenings with Broadway performers (Steinberg 2020a). The virtual lecture series expanded their audience to younger patrons with an interest in a career in the theatre, giving this audience access to working theatre professionals (Shutter 2020). Their Broadway performance series was adapted from an in-person event to a virtual event by having performers pre-record their shows while incorporating a shout-out to the city of Cape May, to help make the production feel more personalized to Cape May Stage's audience (Shutter 2020). Online programming has led to an expansion in locations of audience members and performers – audience members logged in from around the world, and actors who would not normally be able to come out to Cape May to perform were able to participate in the virtual series (Steinberg 2020a). The company has considered moving into more interactive virtual events to engage their audience in new ways and appeal to their older audience base, such as a virtual murder mystery event (Shutter 2020). In October, these interactive events were continuing as virtual talk shows hosted by Steinberg (Steinberg 2020c).

During our first interview in June, Steinberg mentioned that he did not believe that Cape May Stage would continue with their online programming once in-person events resume, citing "zoom fatigue," (Steinberg 2020a). He maintained that position in October but added that virtual programming continued to expand their access to actors and audience members alike. Virtual programming has been presented in both free and paid formats, and paid programming is offered at both a rental and (slightly higher) purchase price point through Vimeo. Live performances were scheduled to resume at Cape May Stage over the next year in a digitally captured format. To accomplish this, Cape May Stage selected plays that would allow social distancing to be maintained – a one-person play, a three-person play where two performers would ideally be a real-life couple, and a two-person play where the cast is a couple (Mr. Steinberg and his wife) (Steinberg 2020c).

Cape May Stage consulted with multiple theatre companies and organizations throughout the pandemic, including the New Jersey Theatre Alliance and Actor's Equity (Steinberg 2020a). Local partnerships within Cape May itself focused on small business associations, and while the company did what it could to support these organizations via social media, there were no concerted efforts at collaboration to combat the loss of business income during the early months of the shutdown (Shutter 2020).

Fundraising efforts were adjusted in response to the shutdown. An annual summer gala was cancelled. Virtual fundraising was accomplished via an appeal to the current audience and Cape May residents via the Heroes campaign, which was well-received and successful in achieving its monetary goal. Steinberg attributes this success in part to a sympathetic audience that understood the unusually dire circumstances facing the organization. Steinberg acknowledged that this level of giving may not be repeatable under similar circumstances in the future (Steinberg 2020a). Their annual giving campaign was expected to continue in November (Shutter 2020). Their annual gala auction was adapted to reflect the current economic environment for both their patrons and local businesses – instead of asking companies to donate goods for auction, Cape May Stage asked for professionals to donate experiential services (a conversation with a Broadway performer, or a cooking session with a chef, for example.)

Cape May Stage does not have the physical space in their theater in order to operate with social distancing guidelines, nor do they have the seating capacity to recover costs if running at reduced seating (Steinberg 2020a). The company has considered different models of continuing production at reduced funding levels, including ceasing to work with Actor's Equity, which Steinberg believes would go against the brand identity of the company (Steinberg 2020b). In October, Steinberg voiced that they would be continuing to work with Actor's Equity. He also voiced that the company had taken steps to reduce other costs, such as moving their rehearsal studio and scene shop equipment into temporary storage (a savings of 50% in monthly rent,) making a case to their insurance company to reduce their rate due to the decreased likelihood of employees being hurt in a building that is not open, and requesting a tax reduction from Cape May for actor housing that is currently unoccupied. In addition, the company is taking advantage of a housing boom in Cape May by listing their actor housing for 300% more than its original cost. If sold at that amount, the company stands to gain \$500,000 from the sale, which will provide a financial cushion for the future (Steinberg 2020c).

Communication with their audience happens predominantly through email blasts, Facebook, and Instagram (Shutter 2020). Cape May Stage had communication and emergency response plans in place to deal with events such as a fire, active shooter or a natural disaster (Steinberg 2020a). No plans had been made for the event of a shutdown due to a pandemic because the possibility seemed unlikely (Shutter 2020). The company has a philosophy of transparency and honesty with their audience and uses the persona of Mr. Steinberg as the Artistic Director to provide a personal touch to their communications (Shutter 2020). Maintaining a connection to their patrons and donors has been a top priority for the company, and Steinberg believed that their communications strategy had been successful in keeping the company relevant to the local community, and that their donor events had helped to make their donors feel connected to the company and valued (Steinberg 2020c).

The company has four employees, including Mr. Steinberg and Ms. Shutter. Employees were working at reduced hours, and receiving partial unemployment benefits (Steinberg 2020). Mr. Steinberg is the only person receiving a full salary (Steinberg 2020c). Employees picked up new responsibilities and roles during the transition to

47

virtual programming (Shutter 2020a). The reduction in hours has impacted the amount of work the organization is able to accomplish, and forced them to prioritize their programming and communications (Shutter 2020). Maintaining a connection to their patrons and donors has been a top priority for the company, and Steinberg believed that their communications strategy had been successful in keeping the company relevant to the local community, and that their donor events had helped to make their donors feel connected to the company and valued (Steinberg 2020c).

### **Paper Mill Playhouse**

Mark S. Hoebee, Artistic Director of Paper Mill Playhouse, experienced his first financial crisis at Paper Mill in the years leading up to the 2008 Great Recession (Hoebee 2020a). The administrative staff at Paper Mill discovered that they had a budget shortfall of \$4 million dollars, during a period when Mark was serving as the interim artistic director (Hoebee 2020a). The board of trustees advised Paper Mill to shut down operations until the following year, and several of the senior staff, including the directors of marketing, production, and development left the organization (Hoebee 2020a).

To guide the organization through this period in time, Hoebee convinced the board to allow the theater to continue production, starting with a play that was rehearsed and ready to premiere (Hoebee 2020a). The communication strategy for their audience was focused around honesty and appealing to the public for support. An announcement about the plight of the theater was released in the local paper, the Star Ledger (Hoebee 2020a). The strategy of continuing production despite the budget shortfall was tied into fundraising – Hoebee believed it would be easier to receive public support if they were actively producing theater (Hoebee 2020a).

Following the announcement, small public donations came in at \$1.2 million dollars (Hoebee 2020a). This allowed the company to demonstrate enough financial support to secure a loan. In addition, the board of trustees worked with local government to arrange for the town of Milburn to purchase the land and property the theater owned and donate the space back to the company. The value of the property, around \$9 million dollars,

allowed the company to pay-off the loan and gave them \$3.5 million dollars as bridge funds to keep operating into the next season (Hoebee 2020a). The completion of the sale of the property to the town of Milburn occurred in the last week of August of 2008 (Hoebee 2020a). A month later, the investment firm Lehman Brothers would file for bankruptcy and kick off the beginnings of the Great Recession. Hoebee expressed skepticism that the sale of the Paper Mill property would have gone through had the sale date been any later than August (Hoebee 2020a).

During the Great Recession, Paper Mill continued to operate and produce, but made adjustments to its production scope and its staff size, reducing to a "skeleton crew." One area that was not cut was the Education department, a priority of the company that would be maintained during the COVID-19 shutdown as well. Paper Mill expanded its business model, partnering with more local theatre organizations and beginning to work with producers to workshop shows headed for Broadway or regional tours. Paper Mill receives royalty payments from these shows for a certain portion of their commercial run. These world premieres were a successful expansion of Paper Mill's business model, with one show in particular bringing in \$1 million dollars for the organization (Hoebee 2020a).

On the outset of COVID-19, Paper Mill was financially healthy and was looking at a budget surplus for the eighth year in a row. Then, in February, "our business model which we had built over the last ten years collapsed," (Hoebee 2020a). A production of Sister Act, already in rehearsal, was cancelled along with the shows for the remainder of their 2019-2020 season. As of July, 30% of the staff had been let go or furloughed, some from each department in the organization, as well as the cancellation of contracts for the independent contractors set to work on the last two shows of their season (Hoebee

2020a). These independent contractors extend beyond artists and technicians to support staff such as concessions and box office (Hoebee 2020a).

The Education department at Paper Mill pivoted into online education for their spring classes, which resulted in a wider reach to students other states such as Colorado and Virginia. Their large summer musical theatre conservatory also shifted to an online model, with over 120 students participating. The conservatory did not bring in substantial money for the company but did better than break-even (Hoebee 2020a).

Another revenue stream for Papermill is the Carriage House restaurant, which sits on the Paper Mill campus. Outdoor dining, once permitted in the state of New Jersey, gave Paper Mill access to their customer base even as it significantly curtailed the number of guests allowed at the restaurant. Significant health and safety practices were implemented – social distancing, masks worn by all staff and customers except when eating, temperature checks, and cleaning of the restrooms after each use. Performances were continued in the form of cabaret-style entertainment for the outdoor dining guests. This is another revenue stream that mainly broke even, but it enabled Paper Mill to continue to engage with their customers (Hoebee 2020a). Outdoor dining continued to be successful into the summer (Hoebee 2020b).

In our first interview, Hoebee offered that the organization had hoped to return to live events in October, but it seemed unlikely (Hoebee 2020a). In our second interview, Hoebee confirmed that the earliest date of return to live events would be January (Hoebee 2020b). In addition to the health and safety concerns, Paper Mill also struggles with how many tickets they need to sell to make a show profitable, a target that can be difficult even at 50% capacity. While some elements of a show can be scaled back, it is difficult to scale back production beyond a certain point (Hoebee 2020a).

As Paper Mill was preparing to submit a new budget proposal to their board of trustees, they planned a season of five shows that could be performed with minimal resources and adjustments to mitigate concerns of COVID-19 spread – social distancing indoors and one-act, 90 minute productions to avoid intermission. The company drafted a five-phase plan with the assistance of medical professionals (thanks to a resource on their board of trustees,) and within that plan they have documented procedures and requirements for reopening to certain levels of capacity. During our final interview in October, Hoebee confirmed Paper Mill's plans for a virtual season, approved by their board of trustees. Their season for the 2020-2021 year will include three live-streamed concerts from New York City and four theatrical productions digitally captured (not live-streamed) and distributed online. If health conditions improve, the theater may be able to pivot to in-person attendance. The production budget for this season (the seventh presented to the board of trustees before approval,) is \$1.1 million, down from their normal producing budget of \$8 to \$9 million dollars (Hoebee 2020c).

Hoebee has several concerns for the possibility of reopening, including customer confidence, the availability of a vaccine, and the cooperation of Actors Equity Association (Hoebee 2020b). Paper Mill has established some union agreements – IATSE is operating on a one-year bridge contract, and the Director's Guild of America has established guidelines for work to resume. However, Actor's Equity has stalled in their progress on establishing work guidelines. Paper Mill is working with SAG-AFTRA to contract performers under new digital media agreements (Hoebee 2020c). While consideration was given to the state of the economy and that other organizations were refraining from fundraising during the shutdown, prior experience of their success in fundraising throughout the Great Recession led Paper Mill to continue fundraising throughout the spring and summer (Hoebee 2020a). After a projected earned income loss of \$4 million, Paper Mill set a fundraising goal of \$3.5 million. Through a combination of foundations, grants, large matching gifts, and small donations, they raised \$4 million dollars (Hoebee 2020a). Hoebee stressed the value of fundraising and planning during the shutdown (as opposed to the releasing of free digital content,) as well as the need to continue to produce in order to remain relevant to their supporters (Hoebee 2020c).

Due to the uncertainty of the year ahead, Paper Mill worked on developing multiple contingency plans for budgeting, based on when reopening would be permitted and at what capacity (Hoebee 2020a). While Hoebee is optimistic for the future, next year he estimates that the company will need to raise \$4.5 million dollars in order to meet their budget needs. Prospects for the future seem hopeful to Hoebee, and he believes that the local community will be ready to return to their theatre perhaps more so than the nearby theatre in New York City (Hoebee 2020c).

# Section IV - Analysis and Discussion

Throughout my examination of the three organizations in my study, a few topics emerged that struck me as the most relevant to answering the question of "how do theatre companies prepare for a crisis similar to the COVID-19 shutdown in the future?" While the likelihood of a pandemic of the magnitude of COVID-19 seems a rare occurrence, there have been multiple incidents in the past year of external crises - national unrest, protests, and natural disasters, all of which could threaten the ability of a theatre company to operate under normal circumstances. Considering the circumstances of this study, we can look at the distinguishing factors of each organization and compare their management strategies to better understand what choices can lead an organization through times of crisis.

### **Financial Sustainability Practices**

The ability of organizations to continue to exist despite unexpected budget shortfalls appears to depend upon their financial sustainability practices – their ability to adjust their operating budget, maintain a connection to their donor base, and their access to existing financial resources. Cultural organizations often do not have reserve funding (Rodriguez 2020). Of the organizations I examined, only one – Paper Mill Playhouse possessed an endowment of funds to sustain itself during an extended shutdown, and even that organization was forced to furlough or layoff 30% of its staff (Hoebee 2020c). The other two organizations were in relatively good financial health prior to COVID-19 – Creative Domain Productions was on-track to move into a new facility in the coming year, and Cape May Stage was expecting a successful season. All three, however, have reported concern about organizational sustainability should the resumption of in-person events at normal capacity extend beyond the start of the next season.

Organizations with diversified business models were able to maintain more employees, such as Papermill Playhouse and their restaurant Carriage House (Hoebee 2020a), or maintain and expand their programming, such as Creative Domain Productions and their expansion of TC Fridays and online galleries (Smith 2020a). This aligns with research findings that the financial success of an organization correlates with that organization's pursuit of entrepreneurial strategies (Gellar, Salamon, and Mengal 2010), that an advantage of cultural organizations is their ability to innovate (Rodriguez 2016). Companies with more limited income streams put more focus on providing content at free (Smith 2020a) or break-even prices (Steinberg 2020b) in order to maintain a connection with their audience. While this aligns with the supply-side remedy concept, it does not demonstrate that providing content at these price ranges resolves the financial aspect of this crisis (Brooks 2000).

Of the organizations studied, Papermill Playhouse had the largest staff, which resulted in having the most furloughed or terminated employees. Organizations with smaller staffs, such as Creative Domain or Cape May, made smaller adjustments, such as reductions in hours, that have allowed them to continue employment of all or a larger portion of their full and part-time staff members. As work slowly resumes, some companies are bringing back contract labor (Steinberg 2020c).

Larger organizations in my study – Paper Mill and Cape May Stage - tended to be more likely to develop financial sustainability practices, while Creative Domain saw crisis management and financial stability planning as aspirational and outside of the scope of its day to day operations (Smith, June). Commitment to financial sustainability practices seem related to the scope of the organization (how many resources are needed to maintain the organization), the number of staff members available to work on development, and the philosophy of leadership.

The scale and hard costs of theatre production also seems tied to the ability of a theatre company to engage in financial sustainability practices. This aligns with research that shows theatre companies are not always able to economize their production costs through innovation (Brooks 2000). There are hard cost issues involved in theatre production, costs that cannot be eliminated by technological advancement – cast, crew, set, technology, rent, etc. A limiting ability for a company to recoup these costs is the size

of their venue and the number of seats available to sell during a run. Venue and staff size also contribute to the financial outlook of each company. For companies with resources and size to engage in larger productions, or the potential to engage in royalty-producing workshops, financial sustainability practices seems like a more manageable aspect of regular operations – Paper Mill stands out as the primary example in my study. For smaller companies, such as Cape May Stage and Creative Domain, the limited number of staff translates to more work being shared amongst fewer available hours.

Also, the issue of size seems to affect the level of financial need both in the immediate and long-term planning. For example, Creative Domain did not suffer significantly by the Great Recession due to its relatively small size and overhead - its venues for its initial years as an organization were partially subsidized by the generosity of landlords. This enabled its staff of one - Rose Howard during their early years, followed by Amber Smith - to focus on the management and development needs of each individual season (Howard 2020). The lower overhead allowed them to put more attention on its seasons, but the combination of smaller financial needs and few working hours may have capped the amount of financial resources the organization was able to develop. The financial success of a company does not only depend on its entrepreneurial strategies, but also on its ability to execute those strategies (Gellar, Salamon and Mengal 2010). While Creative Domain was able to reach out to its donors for emergency fundraising (such as a flooding incident that occurred during Rose Howard's time as Artistic Director,) it did not have the ability to build up substantial reserve resources (Howard 2020).

This issue was echoed by Roy Steinberg of Cape May Stage. With only four staff members, three of whom were on reduced hours during the COVID-19 shutdown, prioritization of work went to maintaining connections with audience members and producing or presenting digital content (Steinberg 2020c). The distinction between these two organizations is that Cape May chose to engage in active fundraising during the shutdown – the additional hours provided by having four staff members versus two may have provided Cape May with the resources required to do so. Also, the expenses and assets between these two organizations offers another distinction: For tax year 2018, Creative Domain Productions self-reported annual expenses of \$380,590, and assets of \$273 (Creative Domain Productions. Guidestar USA Inc. 2020). The same year, Cape May Stage reported expenses of approximately \$860K, with assets of \$1.2 million (Guidestar USA Inc. 2020). Therefore, even though the distinction in staff size and venue size between Creative Domain and Cape May is relatively small, the scope of their work, financial assets, and financial needs demonstrates how smaller operating budgets and slimmer staff numbers can keep a theatre operating while also not providing it with the working hours or organizational incentives to develop financial sustainability practices that build an organization's reserve assets.

This is not to say that financial sustainability practices are a perfect shield to financial hardship for larger organizations. Paper Mill, for example, was in healthy financial shape prior to COVID-19 with a robust staff of 50+ members and a reported \$8.7 million in assets in tax year 2017. During the shutdown, Paper Mill launched an aggressive and, according to Hoebee, successful fundraising operation. However, the cessation of nearly all of their normal income sources resulted in the organization having to make several adjustments to their operations: a new annual budget to reflect the changes in production and income sources, a significantly reduced production budget, and the loss of 30% of their staff members (Hoebee 2020a.) In order to meet the anticipated income gap for their upcoming annual budget, their fundraising goal has risen to \$4.5 million versus \$3 million in the previous year. There is a marked distinction between an organization of Paper Mill's size versus Cape May Stage and Creative Domain. Paper Mill's financial sustainability practices – including, but not limited to, diversified revenue streams and a large development office - lead to eight previous years of operating with an annual revenue surplus. During a shutdown that impacted not only their own production income stream but also the productions that contribute to their royalty income stream, they still had the resources to maintain 70% of their staff as well as two major programs – their restaurant and educational conservatory – while also planning for an ambitious 2020-2021 season of eight digital productions (Hoebee 2020c).

## **Distinctions in Audience Communications**

The most striking differences in audience communications that I discovered in my study is the distinction between continuing to fundraise during the pandemic versus pausing fundraising. Two companies – Paper Mill and Cape May Stage – continued to fundraise throughout the middle of 2020, and met or exceeded their fundraising goals (Hoebee 2020a; Steinberg 2020a). Creative Domain refrained from fundraising activities and cancelled their 2020 summer gala (Smith 2020a).

It is interesting to note that the predominant work of these organizations aligns with their decision on whether or not to pursue fundraising – the two companies that focus on Broadway-style productions continued to fundraise, while the company whose mission puts more focus on community-centric performances chose not to do so. Solicitations for Paper Mill and Cape May Stage focused on the legacy of each company and an open acknowledgment of their financial challenges. Meanwhile, communications from Creative Domain focused on the reasons why the organization was suspending inperson operations – reinforcing their concern for their audience's health and safety – and on acknowledging the difficulties faced by their community (Smith 2020a).

Distinctions in online content differed between organizations. Creative Domain began pursuing online programming as a means of getting content out into the public to, in some ways, provide relief for the trauma their community was going through (Gold 2020). Cape May Stage pivoted to both free and paid content, content that was in some ways an analogous to their normal theatrical experiences (notably, their Broadway performers series) (Steinberg, June). Paper Mill chose to not distribute performancerelated content, focusing instead on adapting their education program for virtual instruction and planning for reopening strategies (Hoebee, October). Success in these areas, regarding audience engagement, must be viewed in several contexts. Paper Mill's virtual education programming, while not as financially successful as their in-person summer conservatory, did succeed in reaching students in locales that would not otherwise have been accessible (Hoebee, October). The same goes for Cape May Stage and Creative Domain – virtual productions did not result in an equitable financial gain compared to in-person productions, but it has opened up both their performer and audience base (Steinberg, August; Smith, June). Digital content also has a long tail, or work that pays back for an extended period of time – while the initial audience may be smaller for online shows, these shows can rack up significant numbers of views over time, gaining more attention and creating more revenue the longer they are posted (Steinberg, October). However, there is a concern that virtual content and audience interest are difficult to interpret, particularly at first. As evidenced by Creative Domain's early attempts at virtual content, the process of "throwing things at the wall and seeing what sticks" means that inevitably effort goes into productions that will not find audience support (Gold, August).

### **Crisis Response Methods**

Each company engaged in economizing as a strategy for reducing costs to stay financially solvent – reducing staff, scaling back production costs, and negotiating with utility companies for reduced rates. Two organizations focused on harmonizing their work. Cape May shifted their focus to specific digital programming that was comparable to their traditional programming, with a heavy focus on Broadway singers, play readings, and hosting conversations with working theatre professionals (Steinberg 2020a). Paper Mill pushed resources into maintaining two revenue streams – education and food service – while also preparing for the season ahead (Hoebee 2020b). These decisions harmonize the work of an organization so its staff can put their full attention on fewer projects (Donnelly-Cox and Shannon 2010).

Creative Domain, by comparison, engaged in a diversifying response. Creative Domain cast a wider net regarding their programming, and more frequently terminated programs that underperformed (Smith 2020a). This contrasts Paper Mill's choice to not produce additional digital programming during the summer of 2020. Their 2020-2021 season also does not represent a diversifying approach, and aligns closely with their traditional season structure. The plays themselves will even be produced in a traditional manner – a full onstage production – that are then digitally captured (Hoebee 2020c).

Responding to a crisis requires strategic thinking, working on customer relationships, and sharing information within and beyond the crisis-impacted organization (Gilstrap, Gilstrap and Holderby 2016). This concept, combined with the concept of a crisis occurring in three sections – pre-crisis, crisis, and post-crisis – provides a perspective through which to view the organizations in this study (Jordan, Upright and Tice-Owens 2016). Each organization responded in relatively similar ways during the pre-crisis period, and focused on sharing information and customer relationships – letting audiences know why they were cancelling in-person events and that they recognized the situation they are going through. During the crisis period, each organization created plans to address how they could continue to engage their audience, where they should put their focus, and how to resume in-person productions when the post-crisis period arrived. Unfortunately, the post-crisis has yet to arrive, and now the crisis period continues and evolves – each organization is shifting to digital models for the year ahead, and strategic thinking now has to focus on audience and donor retention.

### Conclusion

Crisis management planning focuses on the ability to perceive potential crises and plan for an organization's response, both internally and externally. By this definition, each of my three organizations engaged in a form of crisis management planning at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic – assessing its potential impact on their organization, determining the best practices to move forward, and responding with changes in their internal operations and their external communications. The distinctions within this definition fell at their ability to maintain the "planning" component of crisis management planning: addressing the unknown in their planning and having the available work hours (amongst staff) to focus on both the current and future needs of the organization. But, what struck me the most is that crisis management planning as a tangible, pre-developed plan did not seem present at any of the three organizations. Success during COVID-19 seems based in the financial resources and leadership of each company and how they responded in the moment to the crisis – not in their foresight as to how to respond to a crisis in general.

As expected, the transition from in-person to virtual audience engagement presented each of these three companies with new methods of implementing programming: digitally captured productions, live-streamed productions, or other nontheatre specific audience engagement such as games or talk shows. All of these companies acknowledged the challenges and limitations of virtual engagement, but also noted an expansion in their ability to reach audiences in different communities. "Zoom fatigue" was acknowledged, but due to the uncertainties of vaccine availability and a lifting of restrictions on in-person events, each organization has taken steps to invest in expanding their digital footprint – having their shows professionally captured and distributed (Hoebee 2020c), presenting more shows from Broadway performers (Steinberg 2020c), or adding live-stream production to their available services (Smith 2020b). The possibility that virtual programming was here to stay was also acknowledged – the pandemic has jumpstarted an evolution in the method in which audience members engage with a theatre company (Hoebee 2020c). Companies that are able to invest in virtual programming may be able to open up a new and potentially lucrative revenue stream while also expanding their brand awareness beyond their local community.

Comparing my three case studies has demonstrated the importance of fundraising during the COVID-19 pandemic and speaks to the value of continuing to fundraise despite crisis circumstances that could be affecting the donor pool. As expected, organizations found their income dramatically reduced due to COVID-19, but not every company responded to the lack of income with a push for fundraising. Both Paper Mill and Cape May Stage engaged in fundraising during the early months of the pandemic, exceeded their fundraising expectations, and were able to plan for a full upcoming season with enough financial resources to survive through the coming year even if in-person events are unable to resume until June of 2021. Creative Domain, by contrast, decided to refrain from fundraising and, perhaps consequentially, has the most uncertain financial health of these three organizations, with potentially only enough assets to continue their operations through the end of 2020 (Smith 2020c).

Communications is intrinsic to the management of crisis, and the distinction between the organizations demonstrated two approaches – offering the audience the programming you think they need or asking the audience for what your organization needs. In comparison of Cape May Stage and Creative Domain, there is an argument to be made for combining these two approaches into an anticipated crisis communication strategy – asking an audience for the financial support your organization needs on the appeal of the value of your organization, while also reciprocally providing a version of your services. Mark Hoebee mentioned in two of our interviews the importance of producing work when asking for donations, a philosophy that saw Paper Mill navigate both the Great Recession and the beginnings of the COVID-19 pandemic. Roy Steinberg noted the importance of maintaining a relationship with patrons and providing them with some form of acknowledgment of their value (Steinberg 2020c).

I anticipated that companies would need to engage in a reevaluation of their financial sustainability practices. Two companies demonstrated work on this evaluation. Paper Mill submitted multiple budgets to its board before settling on a significantly reduced budget compared to the prior year (Hoebee 2020c). Cape May Stage, in addition to reducing its budget, analyzed the financial benefits of capitalizing on a rising real estate market and placed property up for sale (Steinberg 2020c). Creative Domain, however, seemed to struggle to reconceptualize their financial sustainability practices, and may close as a result (Smith 2020c).

The financial health of Creative Domain after a summer of not actively fundraising illustrates the need for active fundraising for a theatre company, particularly when normal revenue streams are drastically reduced or stopped altogether. Perhaps the best path in audience communication and fundraising, measured by organizational health (staff members employed and available financial resources,) would be Cape May Stage: fundraising that acknowledges the financial challenges of the organization, frames the audience as a valuable partner in the organization's survival, while also providing both free and paid content that is analogous to their normal programming (Steinberg 2020a).

Staffing reductions were anticipated, and to some extent each company was forced to furlough employees or cancel agreements with independent contractors. In the process of reevaluating financial sustainability, theatre companies should endeavor to find an optimum number of employees needed to maintain both the scope of their productions as well as consistent audience development and fundraising. While operating budgets vary between my case studies based on the scale of productions, each company is contending with some basic hard costs of running an organization and producing theatre coupled with income limitations imposed by the number of events and number of tickets available. However, Cape May Stage and Creative Domain, two companies with fairly similar venue sizes (and thus similar scales of production,) have drastically different budgets with comparatively similar numbers of employees - this difference in available work hours seem to make a significant difference in the potential fundraising capabilities of each organization. Larger companies, however, are more susceptible to layoffs when facing significant financial challenges, layoffs the two smaller companies were able to avoid or minimize for the time being, and although Paper Mill is looking likely to produce a full season of programming in the coming year, they are doing so at a drastically different budget than accustomed. The takeaway from this is that organizations should endeavor to not undercut their potential by underinvesting in staff

dedicated to fundraising and audience development, but at the same time should also work to maintain a slim number of staff members to maximize their potential to not have to downsize during a financial crisis.

As anticipated, the shutdown gives theatre organizations an opportunity to examine new models of theater production – notably virtual productions - and business plans for running an arts organization. As companies consider how they will operate in the future, changes in prior practices should be examined, including strategically cutting cost and inefficiency; moving to environmentally friendly practices; expanding their audiences both demographically and geographically; investing in employee development and compensation growth; develop alternative revenue streams; develop diversity practices; and engage community in new ways (Beller 2020). Above all, theatre must work to define its purpose in a post-COVID-19 world. Theatre must present itself to an audience not as content, but as something essential. To do so theatre companies must reckon with the question of why they are essential, and in an era of significant economic stress, why should their audience continue to support them (Lopez 2020)?

Theatre companies should reflect upon their response to this crisis and develop a tangible plan for responding to future events – communication strategies, employment priorities, and adaptive business models. While flexibility in decision making is important, and referenced as preferable to crisis management planning by at least one organization (Smith 2020c), my research and case studies reveal sufficient commonalities in crisis response to support the need for preemptive planning. My research also leads me to believe that in lieu of crisis management plans, experience in handling financial crisis has demonstrated more success for organizations than those without this experience.

68

Codifying that experience in addition to the lessons of the COVID-19 crisis into a preparatory document seems prudent, particularly for organizations operating with less assets and would be more prone to financial collapse.

However, based upon my case studies, crisis management planning and, to some extent, financial sustainability practices seem aspirational for companies that do not have the financial resources to balance the staff needs of running an organization while also planning for that organization's future. If an organization only has the work hours to maintain operations, it is at a significant disadvantage against organizations with more resources. The forced pause on the theatre industry pushed many companies, like the three in this study, to quickly adjust their business model to adapt to the new circumstances, and to grapple with an unforeseen crisis. The prolonged closure has given some companies time to consider how their organizations will evolve when in-person events resume (Hoebee 2020c) or how to pivot their business to a new digital frontier (Steinberg 2020c). Others, it seems, struggle to see a potential future for their organization (Smith 2020c). More research into the subjects discussed in this study could help theatre companies make more informed decisions regarding their operations and leadership management. Specifically, I recommend research into the following areas: staffing size and financial sustainability; crisis management planning at from a national perspective; virtual theatre and audience engagement; and virtual theatre and virtual fatigue. With this knowledge, theatre companies can think strategically about their allocation of resources, responses to crisis, and how to engage their audience in the new medium of virtual theatre while also overcoming the challenges that medium presents.

69

### **Bibliography**

- American Theatre Editors. "Actors' Equity Announces 4 Guiding Principles for Reopening Theatres." AMERICAN THEATRE, May 26, 2020. <u>https://www.americantheatre.org/2020/05/26/actors-equity-announces-4-guiding-principles-for-reopening-theatres/</u>.
- Barone, Joshua. "How the Met Opera Is Throwing a Gala Concert With Smartphones." The New York Times, April 24, 2020, sec. Arts. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/24/arts/music/met-opera-at-home-gala.html</u>.
- Beller, Genevieve. "Rebuilding a Better Theatre Industry Post-Pandemic | HowlRound Theatre Commons." Accessed October 25, 2020. <u>https://howlround.com/rebuildingbetter-theatre-industry-post-</u> <u>pandemic?fbclid=IwAR16JvWOMwnsE6JbTFqD0fzbDo9liEuQo6jFcdsaxjeeAxlp\_9bsK</u> <u>2kzYCs</u>.
- Bernstein, Jonathan. "The 10 Steps of Crisis Communications." Bernstein Crisis Management (blog), April 3, 2015. <u>https://www.bernsteincrisismanagement.com/the-10-steps-of-crisis-communications/</u>.
- Bivin, David, Una Osili, Anna Pruitt, and Jonathan Bergdoll. "The Philanthropic Outlook 2020 & 2021." Marts & Lundy; Indiana University; Lilly Family School of Philanthropy, February 2020.
- Breeze, Sonia. "Resilient Leadership | COVID-19." Deloitte New Zealand. Accessed June 10, 2020. <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/nz/en/pages/human-capital/articles/the-heart-of-resilient-leadership.html</u>.
- Brooks, Arthur C. "The 'Income Gap' and the Health of Arts Nonprofits." Nonprofit Management and Leadership 10, no. 3 (2000): 271–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nml.10304</u>.
- Smith, Meredith. Interview over phone. June 16, 2020.
- Smith, Meredith. Interview over phone. July 30, 2020.
- Smith, Meredith. Interview over phone. October 9, 2020.

- Cape May Stage. (2018) Return of organization exempt from income tax [Form 990]. Cape May NJ: Guidestar. Accessed November 23, 2020.
- Chicago Booth Review. "Diagnosing William Baumol's Cost Disease." Accessed June 9, 2020. <u>https://review.chicagobooth.edu/economics/2017/article/diagnosing-william-baumol-s-cost-disease</u>.
- Clayton, Douglas R., Susan E. Totten, Maria Munoz-Blanco, and Wendy Clark. "Nine Steps Arts and Culture Leaders Can Take to Overcome a Crisis." Arts Consulting Group (blog). Accessed June 8, 2020. <u>https://artsconsulting.com/arts-insights/nine-steps-arts-andculture-leaders-can-take-to-overcome-a-crisis/</u>.

Colorado Nonprofit Association. Crisis Communication Plan Nonprofit Toolkit.

- Creative Domain Productions. (2018) Return of organization exempt from income tax [Form 990]. New Jersey: Guidestar. Accessed November 23, 2020.
- Dilen-Schneider, Colleen. "What Will Make People Feel Safe Attending a Cultural Entity Again? - April 1, 2020." Colleen Dilenschneider, April 1, 2020. <u>https://www.colleendilen.com/2020/04/01/what-will-make-people-feel-safe-attending-a-cultural-entity-again-data/</u>.
- Donnelly-Cox, Gemma, and Sheila M Cannon. "Responses of Non-Profit Organisations to Altered Conditions of Support: The Shifting Irish Landscape." Voluntary Sector Review 1, no. 3 (November 2010): 335–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1332/204080510X538329</u>.
- Geller, Stephanie Lessans, Lester M. Salamon, and Kasey L. Mengel. "Museums and Other Nonprofits in the Current Recession: A Story of Resilience, Innovation, and Survival." The Journal of Museum Education 35, no. 2 (2010): 129–40.
- George, Amy. "2 Essential Coronavirus Communication Lessons for Your Company | Inc.Com." Accessed June 8, 2020. <u>https://www.inc.com/amy-george/2-essential-coronavirus-communication-lessons-for-your-company.html?cid=sf01002&fbclid=IwAR0MsGj5TA3XRzA6wplrmzjtyOc2lAlEsvkkk</u> <u>dqRsn7YueiOi5L3P\_B-b48</u>.
- Gilstrap, Curt A., Cristina M. Gilstrap, Kendra Nigel Holderby, and Katrina Maria Valera. "Sensegiving, Leadership, and Nonprofit Crises: How Nonprofit Leaders Make and Give Sense to Organizational Crisis." Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations 27, no. 6 (2016): 2787–2806.

Hoebee, Mark. Interview over phone. July 8, 2020.

Hoebee, Mark. Interview over phone. July 22, 2020.

Hoebee, Mark. Interview over phone. October 11, 2020.

- Jordan, Tricia Ann, Paula Upright, and Kristeen Tice-Owens. "Crisis Management in Nonprofit Organizations: A Case Study of Crisis Communication and Planning." The Journal of Nonprofit Education and Leadership 6, no. 2 (2016). <u>http://ezproxy2.library.drexel.edu/login?url=https://search.proquest.com/docview/179623</u> <u>9306?accountid=10559</u>.
- Kelly, Raja Feather. "Has Anyone Asked Artists What They Need?" Dance Magazine, May 11, 2020. <u>https://www.dancemagazine.com/raja-feather-kelly-2645970673.html?rebelltitem=9#rebelltitem9?rebelltitem=9</u>.

Kreith, Ari Laurel. Interview over phone. July 23, 2020.

- Lee, Young-Joo, and Jongmin Shon. "What Affects the Strategic Priority of Fundraising? A Longitudinal Study of Art, Culture and Humanity Organizations' Fundraising Expenses in the USA." VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations 29, no. 5 (October 1, 2018): 951–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-018-9982-1</u>.
- Gold, Courtney. Interview over phone. July 31, 2020.
- Loar, Josh. "It's Time for a New Labor Movement in the Performing Arts & Current Affairs." Current Affairs. Accessed October 27, 2020. <u>https://www.currentaffairs.org/2020/07/its-time-for-a-new-labor-movement-in-the-performing-arts</u>.
- Lopez, Matthew. "Will Theater Come Back? What Will It Look Like When It Does? | Vogue." Accessed October 25, 2020. <u>https://www.vogue.com/article/imagining-theatercomeback-post-covid?utm\_campaign=falcon&utm\_brand=vogue&utm\_socialtype=owned&utm\_medium=social&mbid=social\_facebook&utm\_source=facebook&fbcl id=IwAR2Dw11D71EbPo-21o12orBBQ\_Iw7-ZvzoEUYP\_IHNJpcOhXEN0IFfwA5KA.</u>
- Lunden, Jeff. "The Show Must Go Online: Theaters Closed By COVID-19 Get Creative." NPR.org. Accessed June 8, 2020. <u>https://www.npr.org/2020/04/11/830390452/the-show-must-go-online-theaters-closed-by-covid-19-get-creative</u>.
- Maeillo, Michael. "Diagnosing William Baumol's Cost Disease." Chicago Booth Review, May 18, 2017. Accessed June 9, 2020. <u>https://review.chicagobooth.edu/economics/2017/article/diagnosing-william-baumol-s-cost-disease</u>.
- McPhee, Ryan. "How Theatres in the West End and Across the U.K. Are Hoping to Build and Maintain Audience Confidence | Playbill." Accessed October 27, 2020. <u>https://www.playbill.com/article/how-theatres-in-the-west-end-and-across-the-uk-are-hoping-to-build-and-maintain-audience-confidence</u>.

- Miller, Nick. "Musicians Say Breakdown with MSO Management 'Irreparable." The Age, May 29, 2020. <u>https://www.theage.com.au/culture/music/musicians-say-breakdown-with-mso-management-irreparable-20200529-p54xqi.html</u>.
- Nangole, Paul F W. "Financial Losses, Crisis Communication Strategies and Donor Financial Support among Nonprofit Organizations Affected by Incidents of Publicized Fraud." ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. Ph.D., Capella University, 2012. ABI/INFORM Collection; ProQuest One Academic (1095369480). <u>http://ezproxy2.library.drexel.edu/login?url=https://search.proquest.com/docview/109536</u> 9480?accountid=10559.
- New Jersey Theatre Alliance. "Member Theatres." Accessed November 22, 2020. https://njtheatrealliance.org/theatres.
- Paper Mill Playhouse. (2017) Return of organization exempt from income tax [Form 990]. Millburn NJ: Guidestar. Accessed November 23, 2020.
- Paulson, Michael. "Broadway Will Remain Closed at Least Through May The New York Times." Accessed October 27, 2020. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/10/09/theater/broadway-reopening.html</u>.
- Paulson, Michael. "Eight Small New York Theaters Sue Cuomo Over Pandemic Restrictions -The New York Times." Accessed October 27, 2020. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/10/26/theater/small-theaters-lawsuit-pandemic-restrictions.html?fbclid=IwAR1DkCO4w9NSw5fNAoef\_6pX-wXtpizXPgDw3-QsPISe8qOeoAKVusLJOdM</u>.
- Peterson, Chris. "Dallas Theatre Production Shut down Due to COVID-19 Outbreak among Cast and Crew — OnStage Blog." Accessed October 27, 2020. <u>https://www.onstageblog.com/editorials/2020/10/23/dallas-theater-production-shutdown-due-to-covid-19-outbreak-among-cast-andcrew?fbclid=IwAR2wnuxofr8fJggpzN8eyE9SLNDkEfo3w8jIOX8jT7zSvBEO0kpUCQd UDgU.</u>
- Pierce, Jerald Raymond. "Stage Vs. Screen Becomes a Union Battleground." AMERICAN THEATRE, October 23, 2020. <u>https://www.americantheatre.org/2020/10/23/stage-vs-screen-becomes-a-union-battleground/</u>.
- Reich, Rob, Christopher Wimer, Shazad Mohamed, Sharada Jambulapati, David B. Grusky, and Bruce Western. "Has the Great Recession Made Americans Stingier?" In Great Recession, The, 294–314. Russell Sage Foundation, 2011. www.jstor.org/stable/10.7758/9781610447508.14.
- Screen Actors Guild. "The Safe Way Forward' Joint Report from the DGA, SAG-AFTRA, IATSE, and Teamsters on COVID-19 Safety Guidelines to Provide Safe Workplaces in a

Pre-Vaccine World." Accessed October 25, 2020.

https://www.sagaftra.org/%E2%80%98-safe-way-forward%E2%80%99-joint-report-dga-sag-aftra-iatse-and-teamsters-covid-19-safety-guidelines.

Shutter, Denise. Interview over phone. July 8, 2020.

Steinberg, Roy. Interview over phone. June 25, 2020.

Steinberg, Roy. Interview over phone. July 28, 2020.

Steinberg, Roy. Interview over phone. October 5, 2020.

- UK Theatre. "SEE IT SAFELY Campaign Launches as Audiences Start to Return to Live Theatre - UK Theatre." Accessed October 27, 2020. <u>https://uktheatre.org/theatreindustry/news/see-it-safely-campaign-launches-as-audiences-start-to-return-to-livetheatre/.</u>
- Useem, Michael. "Corporate Funding of the Arts in a Turbulent Environment." Nonprofit Management and Leadership 1, no. 4 (1991): 329–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nml.4130010404</u>.
- Vincent, Caitlin. "Giving It Away for Free Why the Performing Arts Risks Making the Same Mistake Newspapers Did." The Conversation. Accessed June 9, 2020. <u>http://theconversation.com/giving-it-away-for-free-why-the-performing-arts-risks-making-the-same-mistake-newspapers-did-139671</u>.
- Zimmerman, Steve. "From Sustainability to Survivability." Spectrum Nonprofit Services (blog), March 17, 2020. <u>https://spectrumnonprofit.com/from-sustainability-to-survivability-how-nonprofits-can-manage-uncertainty-amid-crisis/</u>.

### **Appendix of Tools**

- Interview Questions Each interview adjusted based upon the organization and interviewee. Here is a list of the general questions addressed.
  - a. I'd like to discuss your business practices to get a better sense of your operations. Could you describe for me your sources of income?
  - b. How would you describe your business model?
  - c. What, if any, financial sustainability practices have you implemented?
  - d. Could you describe your employment practices how many full time and part time staff members do you have, how many contract employees?
  - e. Would you describe your position, responsibilities, and length of time you have been with the organization?
  - f. Would you describe your current organizational health pre- and postpandemic?
  - g. Your organization was able to sustain itself during the 2008 financial crisis. Can you speak to what steps were taken that enabled your organization to maintain solvency during that period?
  - h. Did you have a Crisis Management Plan prior to 2008? Could you describe it, and its impact on your organization during the 2008 financial crisis?

- i. When the organization responded to the 2008 crisis, how were employees affected?
- ii. How have employees been affected by the current crisis?
- i. Did you make any adjustments to your business model after 2008? Are you considering any changes in reaction to the current crisis?
- j. Do you have business insurance to protect against risks that are out of your control?
- k. Have you had any success in getting assistance from the relief funds related to COVID-19?
- 1. What is your current financial situation?
  - i. Have you furloughed staff?
  - ii. What other financial adjustments have you made?
  - iii. What do you need, financially speaking, to resume your services?

# Vita

## Joseph Ryan Yow

Education

Drexel University - Master of Science in Arts Administration

Catawba College – Bachelor of Arts in Theatre Arts Member of Alpha Psi Omega

Professional History

Newark Academy Livingston, New Jersey – Faculty Member, 2015-Present

Sewickley Academy Sewickley, Pennsylvania – Faculty Member, 2010-2014

City Year New York New York, New York – Senior Corps Member, 2009-2010

North Carolina Shakespeare Festival High Point, North Carolina – Production and Education, 2007 to 2009

## Awards

Metrolina Theatre Association Award – Outstanding College Production, *The Pillowman*, 2007

ProQuest Number: 28261658

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent on the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 28261658

Published by ProQuest LLC (2021). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All Rights Reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346